UNI TED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
For the Southern District of |owa
In the Matter of
FI TNESS WORLD WEST, | NC., ' Case No. 90-3112-C H
Debt or . ' Chapter 11

ORDER- - MOTI ON FOR APPOI NTIVENT OF | NDEPENDENT TRUSTEE

The notion for appointment of an independent trustee by
the United States of America on behalf of the Internal Revenue
Service (herein "IRS") came on for hearing on March 8, 1991.
| RS appeared by Kevin R Query, Assistant U S. Attorney; Pau
From (herein "Landlord") appeared by Janes L. Spell man,
Nei man, Neiman, Stone and Spellman, P.C.; Brenton National
Bank of Des Mdines and Metropolitan Federal Bank, F.S. B
(herein "Banks") appeared by Elizabeth E. Goodman, Davis,
Hockenberg, Wne, Brown, Koehn and Shors, P.C; the US.
Trustee appeared by Terry L. G bson, Assistant U S. Trustee;
and, Debtor-in-Possession appeared by Richard M LaJeunesse,
Dreher, W Ison, Sinmson, Jensen, Sellers, Harvey, Butters,
Adams and Kaiser, P.C..

During the hearing, Landlord, Banks and U. S. Trustee
joined said notion for appointnment of Trustee.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the court took the
mat t er under subm ssion upon a briefing schedul e.

Movants pray that a trustee be appointed pursuant to 11

U.S.C. § 1104(a).



Debt or- |1 n- Possession resists said nmotion and prays that
the noti on be dismnm ssed.
For the reasons set forth bel ow, the motion for

appoi ntnent of trustee will be granted.

JURI SDI CTI ON
This court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U S.C. § 1334.

This is a <core proceeding pursuant to 28 US.C 8

157(b) (2) (A).

El NDI NGS OF FACT

1. Fitness World West, Inc. (herein either "Debtor" or
"Fitness World") operates a fitness and athletic club at 3200
West own Par kway, West Des Moines, |owa.

2. Fitness Wirld filed a voluntary petition for relief
under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, on Decenmber 6, 1990.

Debtor has remained in possession of its property and
busi ness and continues to do business under the direction of
David C. Rosenberger, President.

3. The Rosenberger famly holds 92 percent of the

i ssued stock. The remaining 8 percent is held by Mary
Enterline, who is an officer and director. The officers are
as follows: David C. Rosenber ger, husband and father,

Presi dent; David K. Rosenberger, son, Vice President; Nancy E.

Rosenber ger, daughter, Vice President; Doris Rosenberger, wfe



and nother, Secretary; and, Mary Enterline, Treasurer. All of
t he above plus Lance K. Rosenberger, son, are directors.
4. The Fi t ness Worl d st ock bel ongi ng to t he

Rosenbergers has been assigned to George Qualley prior to the

time of filing. M. Qualley is an attorney who represents the
Rosenbergers in other nmatters and a creditor of the
Rosenber gers. This stock was assigned to M. Qualley to

secure a pre-petition obligation and is held by him

5. Fitness Wrld has been in business since 1986.
David C. Rosenberger managed the construction of the building
and has run the affairs of Debtor since its inception.

6. There are approximately 4,000 nenbers. Debtor's
income is derived fromdues collected fromits nmenbers. There
are several nethods of payment of dues but sone club nmenbers
prepay for services, sone up to 12 nonths in advance. The
menbers have not formally been advised of this bankruptcy.
Despite requests by the U S. Trustee's office, the nmenbership
list has not been delivered to the U S. Trustee.

7. Debtor paid rent to Landlord up to and including
Sept enber 1990. Debtor has neither paid rent nor established
an escrow account for rent since that date.

8. The nonthly rent and proportioned taxes tota
approxi mately $20,600.00. The anmount of rent which is due and
owing is approxinmtely $109, 500. 00. At the time of hearing

approxi mately $55, 000. 00 post-petition rent was ow ng.



9. Fitness World cannot operate w thout the present
busi ness prem ses.

10. The lowa District Court, Polk County, held pre-
petition that the |ease had been term nated and Landlord was
entitled to possession. This decision is on appeal.

11. There is hostility between Landlord and the
Rosenbergers and Landl ord does not wish to deal on any matter
any further with David C. Rosenberger.

12. Debtor recently filed a mechanic's |ien against the

busi ness prem ses in the anmount of approximately $595, 000. 00.

13. Landlord, if returned to possession, is considering
keeping a fitness center at the |ocation. However, there are
ot her options avail able which Landl ord is considering.

14. This court entered an order granting Paul Froms
motion for relief from stay on March 4, 1991. This court
concurred with the lowa District Court and concluded that the
| ease had been term nated under lowa |law. This term nation of
| ease was prior to the filing of Fitness Wrld' s bankruptcy
petition. This court permtted Paul From to proceed wth
further action in the state court proceeding for forcible
entry and det ai ner.

15. Fitness Wirld filed its notice of appeal from the
order granting relief from stay, and this order is presently

on appeal .



16. The United States Trustee notified both the Debtor
and Debtor's counsel of the reporting requirenents inposed
upon Debtor as Debtor-in-Possession. Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 88§
1106(a) (1) and 704(8) and Bankruptcy Rule 2015(3), Debtor is
required to file nonthly operating reports which are to
include a statenent of receipts and disbursements and such
other information as required by the United States Trustee and
the court. Debt or has been advised of these requirements on
nore than one occasion.

17. Debtor, as Debtor-in-Possession, has filed late
reports. The filed nonthly operating reports are inconplete
and are inadequate to advise the court and interested parties
as to the status of Debtor's post-petition operations.

18. Debtor has failed to properly serve the nonthly
reports on the US. Trustee even though the officers,
enpl oyees and counsel of Debtor know that this 1is a
requirenment.

19. Debtor has hired John Foust as an enployee. M.
Foust is a CPA and has a |aw degree. He nmaintains an
i ndependent accounting office and clientele. M. Foust
testified that his business is advising conpanies that are
struggling financially and attenpting to reorganize their
debt .

20. M. Foust is personally famliar with the nonthly

report requirements of the Bankruptcy Code and Rules and has



worked with these reports on prior occasions. M. Foust was
specifically hired to assist in the preparation of the nonthly
reports and was placed on Debtor's payroll as an enployee for
the stated purpose of avoiding the necessity of seeking this
court's approval in enploying a professional person and avoid
the court's review of conpensation paid to a professional
person.

21. David and Doris Rosenberger are being paid $1, 000.00
and $500. 00 per week, respectively. They were not paid wages
pre-petition and this paynment of wages comenced upon the
filing of the bankruptcy petition.

22. In m d- 1990, Davi d Rosenber ger caused t he
i ncorporation of a corporation by the name of West Wrld, Inc.

A creditor of Fitness Wrld was garnishing Fitness Wrld's
bank account, and West Wrld was incorporated for the sole
purpose of creating another bank account wherein Fitness
Wrld s funds could be deposited wthout being subject to
garni shnent. West World has no assets or enployees and David
Rosenberger is the sole shareholder. All of Fitness Wrld' s
receipts were deposited in this account until the bankruptcy
petition was filed. This information was not revealed
publicly until after Debtor filed its petition.

23. There is a dispute as to whether Fitness World is
current on its insurance coverage. The total annual prem um

of $9,172.00 was due and payable in four installnments of



$2,293.00: July 1, 1990, Septenber 1, 1990, Decenber 1, 1990,
and March 1, 1991. Fitness World has made only two of the
paynments.

24. Fitness Wrld used the Brenton Bank as a pre-
petition depository of <credit card vouchers and statenents.
Brenton Bank caused this <credit card agreenment to be
t er m nat ed. Fitness Wrld continues to accept credit card
payments and it has not established another agreement with a
lending institution for deposi t of these «credit card
transactions. Fitness Wirld is holding these paynents wi thout
depositing them for collection. This has been Fitness World's
procedure since the filing of the petition.

25. Fitness Wrld has been in possession of the prem ses
since the order for relief on Decenber 6, 1990, and has not
filed an assunption of the |ease pursuant to 11 U S.C. 8§
365(d) (4). Subject real estate is non-residential and the
court has not granted additional tine for the filing of an
assunmption of the | ease.

26. As of the date of hearing, the U S. Trustee has not
recei ved any of the quarterly fees.

27. The schedules filed herein show total liabilities of
$513, 744. 00, of which $103,311.00 are taxes owing to the IRS
and $25,570.00 are taxes owing to the State of lowa. Fitness
World lists assets of $1, 151, 638.00, of which $1,000,000.00 is

listed as a contingent and unliquidated claim against 7 Flags



Fitness and Racquet Club and LeMar Koethe in lowa District
Court, Polk County.

28. Secured Creditors include Metropolitan Federal Bank
and First Security Leasing. Metropolitan Federal Bank has
filed a claim of $221,617.88 secured by accounts receivable,
i nventory, equipnment, docunments, instruments, and intangibles.

First Security Leasing is listed as a secured creditor under
three | eases of fitness and exercise equipnment. No paynents
have been nade to either Metropolitan Federal Bank or First
Security Leasing during the progress of this case.

29. No request to wuse cash collateral has ever been
filed by Debtor and neither Metropolitan Federal Bank nor |IRS
have given their consent to use cash coll ateral.

30. Metropolitan Federal Bank, Brenton National Bank of
Des Moi nes, the IRS, and Landlord have stated their
unwi | i ngness to work with current managenment but are willing

to work with an independent trustee.

| SSUE

VWhet her a trustee should be appointed pursuant to 11

U.S.C. § 1104(a).

DI SCUSSI ON

11 U.S.C. § 1104(a) provides as follows:

(a) At any tine after the comencenent of



t he case but

before confirnmation of a

pl an, on request of a party in

interest or the United States trustee,

and after notice and a hearing, the

court shall order the appointnment of a

trustee--

(1) for cause, including fraud, dis-
honesty, inconpetence, or gross
m smanagenment of the affairs of
t he debtor by current nmanagenent,
ei t her bef ore or after t he
commencenent of the case, or
simlar cause, but not including
t he nunber of hol der s of
securities of the debtor or the
ampunt of assets or liabilities
of the debtor; or

(2) if such appointnent is in the
i nterests of creditors, any
equity security hol der s, and
other interests of the estate,
without regard to the nunmber of
hol ders  of securities of the
debt or or the ampbunt of assets or

liabilities of the debtor.

The appointnent of a trustee is an extraordinary renedy,
and it is generally presumed that a debtor wll remain in
possession following the comencement of a Chapter 11
pr oceedi ng. In re Colorado-Ute Electric Association, Inc.,
120 B.R 167, 173 (Bankr. D. Colo. 1990); In re Cardinal
| ndustries, Inc., 109 B.R 755, 765 (Bankr. S.D. Ghio 1990);
In re Ford, 36 B.R 501, 504 (Bankr. WD. Ky. 1983). However,

once cause is found for

has no discretion and nust appoint

Refining Co., 838 F.2d 1133,

The party noving for

t he appoi nt ment

1136 (10th Cir.

t he appoi nt nent

of a trustee the court

a trustee. In re Gkl ahomn

1988) .

of a trustee has the



burden of proof of showi ng that the appointnment of a trustee

is warranted by clear and convincing evidence. In re Sharon

Steel Corp., 871 F.2d 1217, 1226 (3rd Cir. 1989). A debtor -

i n-possession is the rule and not the exception in a Chapter

11 case. Matter of Marin Mtor Ol., Inc., 689 F.2d 445, 446

(3rd Cir. 1982), cert den., 459 U S. 1207 (1983). There is a
strong presunption that a reorganization debtor should be

permtted to continue nmanagenent of the estate. Col orado-Ue,

supra, 120 B. R at 173; Ford, supra, 36 B.R at 504.

Nevert hel ess, the appointnment of an independent trustee
"represents a potentially inportant protection that the court
should not lightly disregard or i ncumber with overly
protective attitudes t owar ds debt ors-i n- possessi on. "

Col orado-Ute, supra, 120 B.R at 173-174, quoting ln re V.

Savino Ol & Heating Co., Inc., 99 B.R 518, 525 (Bankr.

E.D. N. Y. 1989).

"Cause," as used in 8§ 1104(a)(1l) is not limted to the
elements stated in the subsection. 11 U.S. C. § 102(3);
Okl ahoma Refining, supra, 838 F.2d at 1136; Savino Ol &

Heati ng, supra, 99 B.R at 525.

Section 1104(a) (1) specifically provides that a trustee
may be appointed if Fitness Wrld' s managenent engaged in
fraud or dishonesty either before or after the filing of the
petition.

David Rosenberger adnmitted that he <created a second

10



corporation prior to the filing of the petition for the sole
pur pose of concealing the identity of funds on deposit and
m srepresenting the ownership of those funds. Thi s
constitutes an unm stakable act to deceive a creditor to the
profit of Fitness World. M . Rosenberger is capable of using
deceit in order to evade the claims of legitinmate creditors.

Savino Ol & Heating, supra, 99 B.R at 526. Fraud and

di shonesty are clearly shown.

Fitness Wrld enployed an accountant post-petition
wi t hout notice and approval of enployment for the sole purpose
of evading the court's approval of the enploynent and review
of the conpensation paid to a professional person. Thi s
constitutes a violation of 11 U.S.C. § 327 and Fed. R Bankr.P
2014(a); In re Nautilus of New Mexico, Inc., 83 B.R 784

(Bankr. D.N.M 1988).
Fitness Wrld, as debtor-in-possession, has the sane
fiduciary obligation under the Bankruptcy Code to creditors as

a trustee for a debtor renmpved out of possession. Savino O |

& Heating, supra, 99 B.R at 525. Fitness Wrld has a duty to

provi de accurate financial reports in order to disclose al
transactions involving estate assets.

The nont hl y reports are i nconpl et e, i naccur at e,
del i nquent, and m sl eading. This constitutes a continuing
attempt by the managenent of Fitness World to conceal business

transactions from the scrutiny of creditors. The failure to

11



mai ntain adequate records and subnmt pronpt and conplete
reports is cause warranting the appointnment of a trustee

pursuant to § 1104. Okl ahoma Refining, supra, 838 F.2d at

1136; Cardinal |ndustries, supra, 109 B.R at 762.

| nconpetence or gross m snmanagenent of debtor's affairs
is cause for the appointnment of a trustee. Debt or st opped
paying the rent in October 1990. M. Rosenberger concedes
that the business cannot operate wi thout the present business
prem ses. The | ease has been term nated and this constitutes

gross m snmanagenent of the corporation. |In re JP Enterprises,

Inc., 22 B.R 661 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1982).

The failure to nmake |ease paynents; the use of cash
recei pts without disclosing the same to secured creditors and
obtaining their <consent; the failure to keep insurance
payments current; the use of professionals wthout approval
the payment of salaries to David and Doris Rosenberger upon
the filing of the petition; all conmbine to constitute gross
nm smanagenment and cause concern about the ability of present
managenent to manage the affairs of Debtor-in-Possession.

A trustee may be appointed pursuant to 11 U S. C. 8§
1104(a)(2) if the appointnent of a trustee is in the interest
of «creditors, equity owners, and other interests in the
estate. The court cannot consider whether Debtor's securities
are publicly held, or the amunt of Debtor's assets or

liabilities.

12



Factors which are considered under § 1104(a)(2) are as

fol | ows:

(1) the trustworthiness of the debtor;

(2) the debt or-i n-possession's past and present
perfor mance and prospects for t he debtor's
rehabilitation;

(3) the confidence--or l|ack thereof--of the business
community and of creditors in present managenment;
and

(4) the benefits derived by the appointnent of a

t rust ee, bal anced agai nst t he cost of t he
appoi nt nent .

In re lonosphere Clubs, 1Inc., 113 B.R 164, 168 (Bankr.

S.D.N. Y. 1090).

The appointment of a trustee is justified where there is
substantial doubt as to whether debtor's current managenment
may be considered loyal to the debtor's rehabilitation and
whet her current managenent can gain and maintain the
confidence of secured and unsecured lenders in sufficient

nmeasure to support rehabilitation. In re Concord Coal Corp.

11 B.R 552 (Bankr. S.D. W Va. 1981); Cardinal lIndustries

supra, 109 B.R at 765-66.

The court believes that the interests of all parties wll
be served by the presence of an independent trustee. The
| andl ord and secured creditors are united in their desire to
have a trustee appointed and all expressed a conplete |ack of

confidence in present managenent. The landlord is conpletely

13



unwilling to work with present managenent and has expressed an
intention that he could work with an independent trustee.

The trustworthiness of present nanagenent of Fitness
Wrld is subject to doubt. Managenent has shown a willingness
to engage in subterfuge in evading financial responsibility
and candid disclosure of financial situation. This activity
is continuing and hinders Debtor's ability to deal with the
Landl ord and creditors.

The court has arrived at this conclusion notw thstanding
the fact that David Rosenberger testified that the business
would collapse if he left. The business will definitely
collapse if the business is evicted from the prem ses, and
there is sone hope that an independent trustee nmay sal vage the
busi ness. Furt her, the good relationship of present
managenent with the nenmbership mnmight waver if present
managenent was dealing in a forthright manner with them Even
if the business nmust be liquidated, this is better done under
an i ndependent trustee than present nmanagenent.

There are current and ongoing disputes between Debtor,
Landlord and creditors, and the <creditors have |lost all
confidence in the present nmanagenent of Debtor. The
reorgani zati on process is dooned to failure if these disputes
are not resolved. The present nmnagenent of Debtor is either
unable or unwilling to enter into nmeaningful negotiations to

resolve these disputes. The need for a neutral party to

14



nmedi ate di sputes between Debtor and its creditors is ground

for a trustee's appointnment. In re the Bible Speaks, 74 B.R

511, 513 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1987) citing In re Bonded Milings.

Inc., 20 B.R 781 (E.D.N. Y. 1982).

The interest of equity security holders nust be
considered with the interests of creditors and other interests
of the estate. Generally, if the current nmanagenment of a
corporation is also equity security holders, this interest
would normally be opposed to the appointment of a trustee.
However, the Rosenbergers have assigned their stock to a
creditor and their interests as equity security holders
converge with those interests of the creditor. Accordi ngly,
this factor is of |esser significance under the facts of this

case.

CONCLUSI ON

The court concludes that it has been clearly shown that a
trustee nust be brought in under the provisions of both 11
U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1) and (2).

| T I'S ACCORDI NGLY ORDERED, as foll ows:

(1) the joint motion for appointnment of independent
trustee is sustained; and

(2) the United States Trustee shall proceed to appoint a
trustee pursuant to 11 U. S.C. § 1104(c).

Dated this _ 26th day of April, 1991.
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RUSSELL J. HILL
U. S. BANKRUPTCY JUDGE
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